RECEIVED

Jul 24 2023

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Horry County
Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

V.

JAMES ELBERT DANIELS, JR.

PETITIONER

Opinion No. 5986 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed May 24, 2023)

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2018-001630

PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS

WANDA H. CARTER
Deputy Chief Appellate Defender

South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
PO Box 11589
Columbia, SC 29211-1589
(803) 734-1330

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER

QUESTION PRESENTED

The Court of Appeals erred in holding that petitioner's pre-Miranda and post-Miranda statements were properly admitted into evidence at trial because the statements were given in violation of Miranda² and the question-first tactic.

² 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On April 23, 2015, a Horry County grand jury indicted petitioner for two counts of armed robbery (2015-GS-26-01752; -01766) and murder (2015-GS-26-1764). The state, represented by Jimmy A. Richardson, II, and Scott R. Hixson, called the case to trial before Judge Robert E. Hood and a jury on August 27-30, 2018. R. 124. Barbara W. Pratt represented petitioner.

Ultimately, the jury found petitioner guilty as charged. Judge Hood sentenced petitioner to life imprisonment without the possibility of parole. Petitioner appealed, but the case was affirmed by the South Carolina Court of Appeals on May 24, 2023. R. A petition for rehearing was filed on June 8, 2023, which was denied on June 22, 2023. R.

This petition for writ of certiorari follows.

ARGUMENT

The Court of Appeals erred in holding that petitioner's pre-Miranda and post-Miranda statements were properly admitted into evidence at trial because the statements were given in violation of Miranda³ and the question-first tactic.

Two men shot and killed two employees during robberies at three Horry County convenience stores in January 2015. The state alleged that petitioner was the look-out during the robberies. A jury found petitioner guilty of murder and two counts of armed robbery. Based on surveillance tapes, petitioner was developed as a suspect after having been seen at one of the stores that was robbed, and after police identified petitioner's girlfriend's vehicle as the get-away vehicle used in the robberies. The girlfriend's vehicle was confiscated and searched via a warrant. petitioner gave involuntary statements (unwarned and warned) regarding the three robberies in question that should not have been admitted into evidence at trial.

PRE-MIRANDA STATEMENTS

After developing petitioner as a suspect and learning that his girlfriend drove a silver Chevrolet Malibu believed to have been used in the robberies, the police went to petitioner's home to interrogate him. R. 436, ll. 9-20; R. 458, ll. 13-22. Upon their arrival, the police saw a Chevy Malibu. R. 436, l. 24 – R. 437, l. 2. A search warrant was obtained, and the Malibu was seized immediately by police. R. 460, ll. 12-19.⁴ The police then transported petitioner and his pregnant girlfriend to the West Precinct for a formal interrogation. R. 439, ll. 16-21; R. 440, ll. 12-14; R. 460, ll. 3-6. Despite considering petitioner a suspect, the police did not advise

³ 384 U.S. 436 (1966).

⁴ A subsequent search of the Malibu revealed the presence of "a red, white and black headgear attire," which an officer opined was "similar to" what one of the individuals was wearing in the video of one of the armed robberies. R. 385, ll. 9-20.

petitioner of his rights prior to the interrogation. Instead, the officer waited until “it became apparent ... that there was most likely further information that [petitioner] was going to provide that, that would cause [the officer] to place him under arrest.” R. 441, l. 22 – R. 442, l. 4. Petitioner identified McKinley Daniels, his brother, and Jerome Jenkins as individuals who entered all three stores and committed the armed robberies. R. 454, l. 8 – R. 456, l. 5. After petitioner was placed in jail, the police interrogated petitioner again. R. 443, ll. 2-11.

Upon their arrival, the police saw a car in the yard that “looked to be the same vehicle” observed in the surveillance video. R. 11, ll. 7-16; R. 14, ll. 6-9. Apparently able to establish probable cause to believe the car was involved in criminal activity, the police obtained a search warrant and seized and towed the car immediately. R. 24, ll. 12-22; R. 35, ll. 1-7. The police initially spoke to petitioner’s pregnant girlfriend because petitioner was at work. R. 14, ll. 4-11; R. 25, ll. 18-24. From the girlfriend, the police learned she owned the car of interest and that petitioner “had control and would use her car.” R. 14, ll. 17-20. When petitioner arrived home from work, the police had his girlfriend in a police car. R. 25, ll. 10-17. Lent then invited him to the precinct to speak with them. R. 14, ll. 22-24. Petitioner agreed. R. 15, ll. 19-21. Additionally, the police invited petitioner’s girlfriend to the precinct to speak with them. R. 15, ll. 2-3. Lent claimed petitioner was not under arrest, not in custody, and voluntarily agreed to accompany the police to the station. R. 15, ll. 12-21. However, the police refused to allow petitioner to drive himself to the precinct and required he go to the precinct in a police car. R. 26, ll. 11-25; R. 27, ll. 3-10.

During the interrogation, Lent “very skillfully,” pinned down petitioner regarding “some important incriminating information,” such as petitioner’s work schedule, his access and use of his girlfriend’s car during the relevant time periods, and his presence at the Red Bluff store on

the day of the robbery. R. 46, ll. 1-16. Only after getting this critical incriminating information did Lent advise petitioner of his rights. R. 46, ll. 16-23. Thereafter, Lent “boxe[d] him in from the information at the beginning” of the interrogation. R. 48, ll. 15-18.

Relying upon Missouri v. Seibert, 542 U.S. 600 (2004) and State v. Navy, 386 S.C. 294, 688 S.E.2d 638 (2010), defense counsel moved to exclude his statements to police. R. 42, ll. 11-18. Defense counsel explained that when Miranda warnings are provided during the interrogation, rather than at the beginning, the “warnings become less effective and really don’t mean anything.” R. 42, l. 21 – R. 43, l. 7. Further, defense counsel emphasized that in Navy, the Supreme Court focused on the detective’s purpose during the interrogation – to obtain incriminating information. R. 43, ll. 8-12. According to defense counsel, petitioner was in custody during the interrogation at the precinct based upon the totality of the circumstances – “taken from the house in a police car,” the presence of at least four police cars and “lots of detectives,” and the identification of petitioner and his brother by an officer as “possible suspects.” R. 44, ll. 1-17. Further, the police “had already determined to tow the vehicle,” and apparently, had enough information to establish probable cause to support a search warrant for seizure of the car. R. 44, ll. 18-23. The police refused to permit petitioner to drive himself to the police station; rather, the police insisted petitioner and his girlfriend, albeit in separate cars, be escorted to the police station in police cars. R. 45, ll. 1-2. Quite simply, the police “intended at that point to [elicit] incriminating information from him.” R. 45, ll. 5-7.

As defense counsel explained, one-third of the interrogation occurred prior to law enforcement advising petitioner of his rights. R. 45, ll. 8-11. Defense counsel also challenged Lent’s after-the-fact claim that the police would have permitted petitioner to leave the precinct had he made such a request as the evidence demonstrated petitioner was not permitted to drive

himself to the precinct, his pregnant girlfriend was transported and interrogated, and there was a heavy law enforcement presence at petitioner's home and at the precinct. R. 45, ll. 15-24.

The Court of Appeals referred to and summarized the trial judge's findings below:

Although the continuity of police personnel was the same, the State argued the timing of the subsequent jail interview demonstrates this was not a continuous statement as there was a clear break between the pre- and post-*Miranda* interviews.

After hearing the evidence and arguments of counsel, the circuit court found: when law enforcement arrived at Chestnut's home, the only information they had was that Daniels was at the Sunhouse #1 prior to the armed robbery and Chestnut drove a silver Chevy Malibu; Daniels voluntarily came to Chestnut's house from work, knowing the police were there; Daniels and Chestnut both agreed to accompany officers for questioning; there was no evidence either Daniels or Chestnut was under arrest; and because Daniels did not confess to committing any criminal act during the pre-*Miranda* portion of the interview, his statements were admissible. Ultimately, the circuit court concluded Daniels was "given the appropriate *Miranda* warnings" and based on the additional testimony from Detective Lent, Daniels "agrees and goes along with [the interview] after acknowledgement of his constitutional rights with the decision to continue to talk to law enforcement." Thus the circuit court found no violation of either *Miranda* or *Seibert*. The circuit court held the totality of the circumstances demonstrated Daniels was not in custody for the first thirty-one minutes of the interview, detailing its findings that Daniels was at a police precinct rather than headquarters or the jail, was not handcuffed, was not forced to accompany the officers, and suffered no denial of creature comforts, no threats, and no intimidation. Finally, the circuit court found Daniels made his interview statements freely, voluntarily, knowingly, and intelligently after he was advised of and waived his constitutional rights.

The Court of Appeals held as follows regarding the "in custody" issue and the admissibility of the statements:

Here, there is no dispute that Daniels participated in the initial thirty-one minutes of questioning without the benefit of *Miranda* warnings. While our inquiry focuses on whether Daniels was in custody when initially questioned, the State persuasively

argues the content of Daniels's initial statements, specifically the lack of any confession, is pertinent to the inquiry.

videos, law enforcement already knew this from their earlier discussions with Chestnut.

Next, Detective Lent questioned Daniels about his work schedule, and Daniels told him which days and times he worked during the month of January. Detective Lent testified he questioned Daniels about his work schedule because he "wanted to find out . . . if he had access to the car, if he was even in the area or around, or would've been able to have been free on the dates when these crimes had been committed." Daniels's answers led Detective Lent to believe Daniels "would've been off work at the time these crimes were committed, and that he . . . would've had access to Ms. Chestnut's vehicle at the times those crimes were committed."

Finally, Detective Lent questioned Daniels about his whereabouts and conduct on the day of the armed robbery and murder at the Sunhouse #1. When Daniels told Detective Lent that he and Brother bought a soda at the Sunhouse #1 on January 2, 2015—a fact detectives already knew from the surveillance footage—Detective Lent told Daniels they needed to have a "serious talk" because he did not know if Daniels would tell him there "was a dead midget buried in the backyard" or something similarly incriminating. Detective Lent said he was "afraid of what would come out" and people sometimes say "off-the-wall and crazy stuff," thus, he advised Daniels of his *Miranda* rights to "cover" any incriminating statements Daniels might make.

Regarding Daniels's first statement, as our supreme court found in *Navy*, "it is debatable whether a reasonable person would have believed himself to be in custody at the time the first statement was given." 368 S.C. at 301, 688 S.E.2d at 841. Accordingly, the circuit court's finding that Daniels was not in custody should be "upheld as it is supported by the record." *Id.* Daniels was asked—not required—to ride to the substation with police officers for questioning; he was questioned in an office and did not ask to leave; he was offered creature comforts; and the initial pre-*Miranda* questioning lasted only about half an hour. *See Evans*, 354 S.C. at 583, 582 S.E.2d at 410 ("To determine whether a suspect is in custody, the trial court must examine the totality of the circumstances, which include factors such as the place, purpose, and length of interrogation, as well as whether the suspect was free to leave the place of questioning.").

To the contrary, petitioner was in custody under the totality of the circumstances and his interrogation was for the purpose of gaining incriminatory responses. In Jackson v. Denno, 378 U.S. 368, 376 (1964), the United States Supreme Court held that “a defendant in a criminal case is deprived of due process of law if his conviction is founded, in whole or in part, upon an involuntary confession, without regard for the truth or falsity of the confession.” To introduce a statement produced during custodial interrogation, the prosecution must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that the statement was made freely and voluntarily, and taken in compliance with Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 426 (1966). State v. Goodwin, 384 S.C. 588, 601, 683 S.E.2d 500, 507 (Ct. App. 2009); State v. Miller, 375 S.C. 370, 378, 652 S.E.2d 444, 448 (Ct. App. 2007). In Miranda v. Arizona, 384 U.S. 436, 444 (1966), the United States Supreme Court held “the prosecution may not use statements, whether exculpatory or inculpatory, stemming from custodial interrogation of the defendant unless it demonstrates the use of procedural safeguards effective to secure the privilege against self-incrimination.”

The Court explained that “custodial interrogation” meant “questioning initiated by law enforcement officers after a person has been taken into custody or otherwise deprived of his freedom of action in any significant way.” Id. Thereafter, the Court required that

[p]rior to any questioning, the person must be warned that he has a right to remain silent, that any statement he does make may be used as evidence against him, and that he has a right to the presence of an attorney, either retained or appointed. The defendant may waive effectuation of these rights, provided the waiver is made voluntarily, knowingly and intelligently.

Id. This is because “in-custody interrogation[s]” place “inherently compelling pressures” on the persons interrogated. Id. at 467.

The Supreme Court concluded “the Miranda safeguards come into play whenever a person in custody is subjected to either express questioning or its functional equivalent.” Rhode

Island v. Innis, 446 U.S. 291, 300-301 (1980). According to the Court, “[t]he latter portion of this definition focuses primarily upon the perceptions of the suspect, rather than the intent of the police.” Id. at 301. “[T]he definition of interrogation can extend only to words or actions on the part of police officers that they *should have known* were reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response.” Id. at 302 (emphasis in original). The determination of whether a person is “in custody” for Miranda purposes requires “[t]wo discrete inquiries”: “first, what were the circumstances surrounding the interrogation; and second, given those circumstances, would a reasonable person have felt he or she was not at liberty to terminate the interrogation and leave.” Thompson v. Keohane, 516 U.S. 99, 112 (1995). “In determining whether an individual was in custody, a court must examine all of the circumstances surrounding the interrogation, but the ultimate inquiry is simply whether there [was] a formal arrest or restraint on freedom of movement of the degree associated with a formal arrest.” Stansbury v. California, 511 U.S. 318, 322 (1994) (internal quotations omitted).

“To determine whether a suspect is in custody, the trial court must examine the totality of the circumstances, which include factors such as the place, purpose, and length of interrogation, as well as whether the suspect was free to leave the place of questioning.” State v. Evans, 354 S.C. 579, 583, 582 S.E.2d 407, 410 (2003). “The custodial determination is an objective analysis based on whether a reasonable person would have concluded that he was in police custody.” Id.

In Evans, the defendant went to the police station accompanied by her family. Id. at 581, 582 S.E.2d at 408. Two police officers took the defendant “into a back office to take her statement.” The officers never advised the defendant of her Miranda rights. Id. at 581, 582 S.E.2d at 409. The police knew that the deadly fire they were investigating started with an accelerant. Id. at 581 n.2, 582 S.E.2d at 408 n.2. The police told the defendant they did not believe her

explanations for the fire. Id. at 581, 582 S.E.2d at 409. The two policemen left the room and sent in a female SLED agent, who used a sympathy tactic. Id. The two women were in the room for at least forty-five minutes. Id. at 582, 582 S.E.2d at 409. The SLED agent followed the defendant to the bathroom and waited outside the door. Id.

The Evans Court found that the defendant was in custody even though she was not formally arrested until shortly after making the statement. Id. at 584, 582 S.E.2d at 410. When analyzing whether the defendant was free to leave, the Court emphasized that the SLED agent accompanied her to the restroom and waited outside the door. Id. The Court was also persuaded that the defendant was “in custody” because she was interviewed in a back office in the police station, her cousin was not allowed to go into the interview room, and the interview lasted three hours. Finally, the officers’ purpose of the interview changed from a routine inquiry to questioning of a suspect when the female officer entered the interrogation room. Id.

In summary, in this case, it was clear that petitioner was in custody and gave incriminating statements without the benefit of Miranda warnings, and that the interrogation that occurred pre-Miranda was designed to elicit incriminating responses from petitioner. Note the dissenting opinion from this Court in disagreement with the majority “in custody” and “intent to elicit an incriminating responses” rulings:

I merely point out that the statement given by Daniels prior to receiving Miranda warnings should have been excluded from evidence because it was the product of a custodial interrogation.

Under all of the surrounding circumstances, a reasonable person would not have felt free to leave the office in which Detective Lent questioned Daniels.

Daniels arrived home from work to find his pregnant girlfriend, LaShania Chestnut, speaking with officers while sitting in one of several unmarked police cars at the residence. When Detective Lent asked Daniels if he would be willing to speak with him at the

police substation, Daniels agreed to do so. However, he was not allowed to drive his Grand Prix to the substation, despite the willingness to cooperate he showed by appearing at the residence soon after he was notified that officers were there questioning Chestnut. Rather, officers required Daniels and Chestnut to ride in separate police cars. Once they arrived at the substation, Daniels and Chestnut were taken to separate offices. Detective Lent met with Daniels at approximately 9:45 p.m. and interviewed him for over thirty minutes before advising him of his Miranda rights.

Based on the foregoing, I believe the record contradicts the circuit court's finding that Daniels was not in custody. Further, Detective Lent's questioning during this thirty minute period was not only reasonably likely to elicit an incrimination response, it was specifically designed for this purpose.

Rhode Island v. Innis, 446 U.S. 291, 301 n.5 (1980) (emphases added) (quoting *Miranda v. Arizona*, 384 U.S. 436, 476 (1966)). Detective Lent started his questioning by asking Daniels if he had any idea why officers had asked him to talk with them. When Daniels said he had no idea, Detective Lent expressed incredulity and then explained that he was interested in Chestnut's car and Daniels's own car. From his earlier discussions with Chestnut, Detective Lent already knew that Daniels had access to Chestnut's car in January 2015. Detective Lent was also aware prior to his interview with Daniels that Chestnut's car matched the car in the surveillance videos. Therefore, at the very least, Detective Lent should have known that questioning Daniels about Chestnut's car and Daniels's own car was reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response, i.e., that around the time of the robberies in question, Daniels had access to a car matching the car in the surveillance video.

Next, to nail down the precise days that Daniels was available to participate in the robberies, Detective Lent questioned Daniels about his work schedule during January 2015 and asked him to mark a desk calendar to indicate which days he had worked. Not only should Detective Lent have known that these questions were likely to elicit an incriminating response—i.e., Daniels had no workplace alibi and was available to participate in the robberies—he was counting on it. Detective Lent testified,

[O]ne of the first things I wanted to find out was if he had access to the car, if he was even in the area or around, or [would have] been able to have been free on the dates when these crimes had been

committed. So, we start speaking about some things, some of which were his work schedule and times that he would work.

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