STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

RECEIVED

Aug 23 2023

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Horry County
The Honorable Robert E. Hood, Circuit Court Judge

S.C. SUPREME COURT

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT,

vs.

JAMES ELBERT DANIELS, JR.,

PETITIONER.

RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
Appellate Case No. 2018-001630

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

J. ANTHONY MABRY
Senior Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 11973
Office of the Attorney General
P.O. Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-6305

JIMMY A. RICHARDSON, III
Solicitor, Fifteenth Judicial Circuit

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

The majority of the Court of Appeals and Judge Hood correctly determined Daniels was not in custody at the time of his initial questioning. Daniels; Stansbury v. California, 511 U.S. 318 (1994); Oregon v. Mathiason, 429 U.S. 492 (1977); State v. Williams, 405 S.C. 263, 747 S.E.2d 194 (Ct. App. 2013). Judge Hood’s determination is supported by the record. Id. Before Miranda warnings were given, Daniels voluntarily accompanied police to a shared substation in an unmarked car, was not under arrest, could terminate the interview at any time, was free to leave as his girlfriend, and would have been taken home if he had asked to terminate the interview.

However, even if this Court were to find he was in custody when initially questioned, the improper “question first” technique was not used. Therefore, at most, what occurred here, if any violation, was a Miranda violation. Daniels did not *confess* or make any *admission of guilt* before he was given Miranda warnings. Further, police already knew Daniels had been in the convenience store where Paruchuri was murdered 22 minutes before the crimes buying a soda and he had access to a silver or grey Malibu.¹⁷ See Bobby, 565 U.S. at 32 (admission of Dixon’s confession was

¹⁷ Investigators had already interviewed Daniels’ girlfriend at her mother’s home and she told them verbally Daniels had access to and used her car from time to time. Police also pulled Daniels’ driving record and he received a traffic ticket driving his girlfriend’s car.

consistent with this Court's precedents: Dixon received Miranda warnings before confessing to Hammer's murder; the effectiveness of those warnings was not impaired by the sort of two-step interrogation technique condemned in Seibert; and there is no evidence any of Dixon's statements was the product of coercion. That does not excuse the decision not to give Miranda warnings before Dixon's first interrogation. But the Ohio courts recognized that failure and imposed the appropriate remedy: exclusion of the statements given without Miranda warnings. No precedent of this Court required the Ohio courts to do more); *See also State v. Medley*, 417 S.C. 18, 787 S.E.2d 847 (Ct. App. 2016)(while the court erred in admitting pre-Miranda statements because they were result of custodial interrogation, court did not err in admitting post-Miranda statements because they were not the product of improper Seibert or Navy technique and were voluntary).

The legal analysis is different when there has been a Miranda violation, if any, but not a Seibert/Navy violation. The general rule is in those cases where a statement has been taken in violation of Miranda, and a second statement has been taken in compliance with Miranda, the court must determine if the second statement has been irrevocably tainted by the initial Miranda violation. *State v. Callahan*, 263 S.C. 35, 208 S.E.2d 284 (1974). Generally, an initial failure to administer Miranda warnings before a statement is given does not automatically taint any subsequent statement made after a suspect has been fully advised of and has waived his Miranda rights, when both pre-Miranda and post-Miranda statements are voluntary. *State v. Campbell*, 287 S.C. 377, 339 S.E.2d 109 (1985); *Verigan v. People*, 420 P.3d 247 (Col. 2018).

In *Oregon v. Elstad*, 470 U.S. 298 (1985), a suspect who had not received his Miranda warnings confessed to burglary when briefly questioned as he was being taken into custody at his residence. An hour later, after he had received Miranda warnings, the suspect again confessed to the same burglary. The Court held the later warned confession was admissible because "there is

no warrant for presuming coercive effect where the suspect's initial inculpatory statement, though technically in violation of Miranda, was voluntary. The relevant inquiry is whether in fact, the second [warned] statement was also voluntarily made." 470 U.S. at 318(footnote omitted), *quoted in Bobby*, 565 U.S. at 29-30. In Bobby v. Dixon, the Court likewise clarified that where there is a Miranda violation but not a Seibert violation, the relevant inquiry is still that set forth in Elstad, *supra*, i.e. whether in fact, the second [warned] statement was voluntarily made. Bobby, 565 U.S. at 29-30.¹⁸ *See also Seibert*, 542 U.S. at 620-22 (Kennedy, concurring in judgment)(Elstad applies unless police intentionally employed improper 2-step interrogation technique); United States v. Williams, 435 F.3d 1148 (9th Cir. 2006)(Kennedy concurrence is controlling).

As Judge Hood and the Court of Appeals correctly found, based on the testimony and evidence presented at the *in-camera* hearing, the totality of the circumstances surrounding Daniels' questioning demonstrates his statements were voluntary. State v. Rabon, 275 S.C. 459, 461, 272 S.E.2d 634, 635 (1980)(When analyzing the voluntariness, the trial judge should examine the totality of the circumstances, including the characteristics of the accused, and the details of the interrogation).¹⁹ Factors to be considered include: (1) the accused's age; (2) his education and

¹⁸ In his brief below, Daniels mistakenly discussed the Seibert factors for determining when a later warned statement is admissible; however, those are not apposite here. Bobby, 565 U.S. at 29-30. Those Seibert factors, correctly relied upon in Hill and Medley, are used for determining whether a later warned statement is admissible **when police first obtain an unwarned confession or admission of guilt**. Seibert, 542 U.S. at 620-22 (Kennedy, concurring)(admissibility should be governed by Elstad, unless the outlawed 2-step technique is intentionally employed). Those factors are not applicable here where police did not obtain an unwarned confession or admission of guilt. *If* petitioner was in custody, a Miranda violation, if any, occurred. Id.; Bobby, 565 U.S. at 29-30.

¹⁹ Supporting the voluntariness finding, Daniels did not testify and did not present any testimony suggesting his post-warning statements were the involuntary product of the initial questioning. *See State v. Breeze*, 379 S.C. 538, 545, 665 S.E.2d 247, 251 (Ct. App. 20008)("Conversely, Breeze did not contradict [the officer]'s testimony with respect to the issue of whether the statement was voluntary. . . . Faced with [the officer]'s undisputed testimony the trial court concluded the State had showed that Breeze voluntarily made the statement. Based on [the officer]'s testimony, we cannot conclude the trial court's ruling is unsupported by any evidence").

intelligence; (3) his knowledge of his constitutional rights; (4) the length of detention; (5) the nature and details of the questioning, whether it was repeated and prolonged, and its' effect on the subject; and (6) the presence or absence of the use of punishment, including deprivation of food or sleep. Schneckloth v. Bustamonte, 412 U.S. 218, 226 (1973). Ultimately, voluntariness hinges upon whether the confession was the product of an essentially free and unconstrained choice by its maker or was the product of an overborne will and critically impaired capacity for self-determination. Id. at 225-26; *see* State v. Von Dohlen, 322 S.C. 234, 243, 471 S.E.2d 689, 695 (1996).²⁰ Daniels was an adult. He already had 1 child and another child on the way. He was employed at 2 different jobs. This was not his first involvement with police, had previously been in prison, and would have been familiar with his Miranda rights before any questioning. Prior to making any admission of guilt or confession, he was read his Miranda rights and he knowingly, intelligently, and voluntarily waived those rights and agreed to speak with the investigators.²¹ During questioning, he was offered something to drink, and was not threatened or physically abused. He did not ask to speak with an attorney or invoke his right to remain silent. This entire interview was also audio recorded so there can be no question what occurred. (St. Ex. 2 & 3, Aug. 22). The interview was conversational. The length of the interview was minimal and was not repeated or prolonged, about 1 ½ hours on February 5th and briefly on the 6th. (St. Ex. 2; R. Aug. 22, 6-42, 57-64). The length was not coercive. *See* State v. Saltz, 346 S.C. 114, 551 S.E.2d 240

²⁰ *See also* Miller v. Fenton, 796 F.2d 598, 604 (3rd Cir. 1986) (“We emphasize that the test for voluntariness is not a but-for test; we do not ask whether the confession would have been made in the absence of the interrogation. Few criminals feel impelled to confess to the police purely of their own accord, without any questioning at all.”).

²¹ *See* Elstad, 470 U.S. at 318 (“[T]he finder of fact must examine the surrounding circumstances and the entire course of police conduct with respect to the suspect in evaluating the voluntariness of his statements. The fact that a suspect chooses to speak after being informed of his rights is, of course, highly probative.”)(footnote omitted)).

(2001)(statement voluntary after 6 ½ hour interview). As additional evidence of the voluntariness, Daniels was questioned again the day after his arrest on February 6th and after being read his Miranda rights again, a 2nd time, he again voluntarily waived his rights and admitted his involvement in the crimes. This statement was also audio-recorded. (State's Ex. 3, R. August 22, 6-42, 57-64). Also, during the questioning on the 5th, Daniels indicated he had been wanting to come forward and speak with investigators for some time but did not because he was afraid of his brother. Judge Hood found Daniels' statements in this regard and his statements on the following day indicated a person who voluntarily wanted to talk, not someone whose will was overborne or who was coerced into confessing. (R. Aug. 22, 64-73). Von Dohlen, 322 S.C. at 243, 471 S.E.2d at 695. Daniels was not deprived of food, drink, or sleep. (R. Aug. 22, St. Ex. 2 & 3). See Bobby, 565 U.S. at 29 (finding a defendant's statements were voluntarily made, in part, because he "was given water and offered food, and was not abused or threatened."). As a result, based on the totality of the circumstances, Judge Hood did not abuse his discretion in finding Daniels' statements were voluntary. Saltz, 346 S.C. at 136, 551 S.E.2d at 252 (court's ruling on the voluntariness of a statement will be affirmed on appeal if supported by any evidence); State v. Arrowood, 375 S.C. 359, 369 652 S.E.2d 4348, 443 (Ct. App. 2007)(court's determination is not in error if there is any evidence to support it). The Court of Appeals properly affirmed. Certiorari should be denied.

Harmless Error

When guilt has been conclusively proven by competent evidence such that no other rational conclusion can be reached, the Court should not set aside a conviction because of insubstantial errors, including constitutional ones, not affecting the result. State v. Bailey, 298 S.C. 1, 5, 377 S.E.2d 581, 584 (1989; United States v. Hastings, 461 U.S. 499, 509 (1983). It is undisputed, on January 2, 2015, Daniels entered *the Sunhouse* on Hwy. 905, 22 minutes before the

crimes and purchased a soda; Daniels was wearing clothing similar to that a co-defendant wore in the later robberies at *the Scotchman* and *the Sunhouse* in Conway, red pants and a gray hooded sweatshirt. Twenty (20) minutes after Daniels left *the Sunhouse* on 905, Jenkins and McKinley entered the store wearing masks, armed robbed the store, and murdered Paruchuri. A silver Malibu was seen on video in the area of the store around the time of the crime. Daniels worked near *the Scotchman* robbed on January 25th; he did not enter this store, but the same 2 men, who murdered Parachuri, did and armed rob this store, and again wore masks and 1 wore clothing similar to that worn by Daniels in *the Sunhouse* on 905. About, 1 hour later, on January 25th, at *the Sunhouse* in Conway, a 30-minute drive from *the Scotchman*, Daniels entered this store and spoke with Stull. As in the Parachuri murder, Daniels enters this *Sunhouse* about 30 minutes before the crimes, as a customer, and purchased an item and spoke with the clerk. He exits the store and enters a silver Malibu and leaves the parking lot. About 30 minutes later, the same 2 men, Jenkins and McKinley, who entered the *Sunhouse* on 905 and *the Scotchman*, enter *the Sunhouse* in Conway wearing masks and armed rob the store and murder Stull. During the time this crime is being committed and shortly thereafter, a silver Malibu can be seen driving around the store and leaving the area and running a red light after the crimes are committed. The State proved independent of Daniels' statements he had access to and did drive a silver Malibu. When police searched this car, they found a ski mask matching that worn by 1 perpetrator and a blue bandana matching that worn by the other perpetrator of the same crimes. In Daniels' home shared with McKinley, police found a black sweatshirt with a distinctive hole under the left armpit seen in videos of the murders and armed robberies and distinctive tennis shoes with neon soles worn by 1 of the perpetrators. In Jenkins' home, police found the distinctive tennis shoes worn by another perpetrator, with a shiny silver button on the shoestrings seen in videos. All the fired shell casings from both murders came

from the same gun. As a result, it was clear to the jury the same 2 “trigger-men” committed all 3 robberies and the 2 murders and Daniels was involved. Finally, Daniels wrote incriminating letters in jail that he drove the car in the crimes. As a result, for Daniels not to have been involved in the crimes, a juror would have to believe the 2 triggermen followed Daniels around Horry County, without his knowledge, on January 2nd and January 25th, to different convenience stores at least a 30 minute drive apart, and coincidentally entered each store 20 to 30 minutes after he left each store, without his knowledge, and were able to commit the crimes and escape from each crime scene without any assistance of Daniels. That makes absolutely no sense. And, the jury would have to believe Daniels did not write the letters he wrote to McKinley in jail. As a result, the evidence of Daniels’ guilt was overwhelming and the admission of his statements, if erroneous, was harmless. *See State v. White*, 410 S.C. 56, 60, 762 S.E.2d 726, 728 (Ct. App. 2014)(based on entire record, any error in admitting statement placing White at the murder scene as a product of impermissible “question first and warn later” was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt and did not contribute to verdict because other evidence clearly placed victim and White together at the time and place of the murder and witness testimony linking White to the murder); *Medley*, 417 S.C. at 30, 787 S.E.2d at 853 (regardless of erroneous admission of defendant’s statements, the record contained ample evidence a jury could have concluded guilt beyond a reasonable doubt. the error, if any, was harmless.); *see also State v. Easler*, 327 S.C. 121, 129, 489 S.E.2d 617, 621-22 (1997)(Any error in failing to suppress statements because of *Miranda* violation was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt because of the overwhelming evidence of guilt.);²² *State v. Lynch*, 375 S.C. 628, 654 S.E.2d 292 (Ct. App. 2007)(The overwhelming evidence of guilt renders any possible *Miranda* violation harmless.); *State v. Newell*, 303 S.C. 471, 477, 401 S.E.2d 420, 424

²² *Overruled on other grounds, State v. Greene*, 423 S.C. 263, 814 S.E.2d 496 (2018).

(Ct. App. 1991)(although error in not suppressing in-custody statement because of Miranda violation, it was harmless beyond a reasonable doubt; there is overwhelming evidence of guilt independent of statements. (citation omitted)); State v. Miles, 421 S.C. 154, 166-67, 805 S.E.2d 204 (Ct. App. 2017)(where Navy/Seibert challenge was to 3rd statement but it was cumulative to others, error was harmless). As a result, certiorari should be denied.

CONCLUSION

For all of the foregoing reasons, certiorari should be denied.